Henderson Cottage, Invercassley, Rosehall, Parish of Creich, Sutherland

Photographic Record in Advance of Demolition
Plot 1: Archaeological Watching Brief
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Henderson Cottage, Invercassley, Rosehall, Parish of Creich, Sutherland

Photographic Record in Advance of Demolition

1.0 Background

Planning consent has been granted for the erection of tow new houses to the NW of Henderson Cottage, Invercassley. As a condition of consent, the existing cottage is to be demolished and a photographic record is required. This enables any features of historical or architectural interest to be recorded and made available for future study. The record was carried out in conjunction with a watching brief on the ground-breaking work for Plot 1 on 28.4.08.
2.0 Location

The cottage is located on the SW bank of the River Cassley immediately to the west of the road bridge, constructed in 1825 as part of the Bonar Bridge to Lochinver road. The small settlement of Invercassley, or Rosehall, consisted until the late 20th century  almost entirely of dwellings for estate workers constructed during the development of the sporting estate during the 19th century, although there are now a number of modern developments.
The surrounds of the cottage are somewhat overgrown, with a number of trees, possibly natural re-growth, on the river bank. To the north and west, however, the ground is landscaped and tidy, a new access road leads to a new house and another new build is located immediately west of the cottage

3.0 Cartographic Evidence
The 1875 Ordnance Survey 1:2,500 map appears to show this building as unroofed although it is roofed on the 1879  map. This would suggest that in 1875 the building was under construction. Both maps indicate a smaller detached structure to the west, probably a barn or byre and both the 1879 and the 1905 2nd edition OS map show a small building immediately to the north of the east end of the cottage. Neither of these buildings was still standing at the time of this investigation: the barn or byre was located on the route of the present access road to new housing to the NW and the site of the north building contains remains of a wooden shed of more recent construction.
In 1879 the cottage has a rectangular enclosure or garden plot to the west and the ground to the SE, between the cottage and the river, is indicated as improved ground. By 1905 a larger area to the NW has been enclosed and improved.

4.0 Building Description

4.1 Exterior

The cottage is harled, but where the harling has flaked off on the east gable and on the north wall the stonework is exposed. The stone on the east gable,( Photo 18), appears to be relatively carefully coursed roughly shaped large stones with neat pinning, but the back, north wall appears much rougher (Photo no. 26) This may indicate different phases of construction and possibly the rebuilding of gable ends of an earlier building to allow the insertion of fireplaces and flues.

The corrugated iron roofing is in good condition and is unlikely to be original. There are 3 iron roof lights on the south face of the roof, and iron gutters although no down pipes survive.

There are four windows in the south aspect, all slightly differing in size but containing roughly similar sash windows. The most westerly window is notably smaller and squarer than the other three and may indicate the original use of the west end as a byre, or an earlier dwelling. 
There are two doors, both framed by matching porches which would appear to be constructed of harled brick or breeze block (Photos 10, 13). These are roofed with corrugated iron sheeting sitting on crudely cut and nailed barge board.
There is one window in the east gable but none in the west, and four in the back, north wall, again of slightly differing sizes, that lighting room 4 being slightly smaller than the other three (Photo no. 21).

4.2 Interior

There are six rooms and two passages on the ground floor. The numbering used below runs from west to east (see diagram) 

Room 1. This occupies the full width of the building, with windows in both the north and south walls. The fireplace has a cast iron grate and surround (Photo no. 29) The east wooden partition wall is irregular, giving an alcove in the NE corner (Photo no. 30). This is possibly due to the awkwardness of inserting  the adjacent passage and stair (room 2) The door is possibly original (Photo no. 31)
Room 2: Passage. This awkward narrow passage runs back from the west exterior doorway, now blocked off, and contains a narrow stair giving access to the roof space at this end of the building (Photo no. 32) The stair appears to be truncated at the base, possibly in order to allow the door to be used before it was blocked off and the whole arrangement of the passage is possibly the result of a conversion from byre to additional living space of this end of the building
Room 3: The west wall is stone and contains a fireplace, occupied by a range, until recently concealed behind a modern fireplace (Photo no. 34). There is a doorway through to room 2 to the north of the fireplace, and this short passage is lit by a window in the north wall along the same line as the internal wall (Photo no. 33) The lintels of the doorway and window can not therefore be load-bearing. The door may be original, and contains an inserted pane of glass to light the passage, (room 2) Newspaper used as wallpaper in this room dates to Feb 1st 1893
Room 4. This room opens off the passage (room 5) and is only lit from the north. It has been used most recently as a kitchen. Much of the room is taken with the underside of the stair leading from the passage (room 5) to the roof space of the east end of the building. This underside is exposed and probably provided storage space.

Room 5: Passage. This passage runs along the south wall of the building and rooms 3, 4, 6, 7 and 8 open off from it as well as the east stair. It is divided in two by a door immediately west of the external door (Photo no. 37) The stair to the roof space of the east end of the building leads off this passage. An electricity meter to the east of the entrance is dated to 2005. A thick layer of wallpaper peeling from the cladding to the west of the entrance (Photo no. 38) includes approximately 20 layers of different designs, the bottom-most being brown paper from a parcel addressed to ‘Nurse R…’ (Photo no. 52)
Room 6: a small square room lit from the north window. The SW corner of the room is occupied by the stair. The door may be original (Photo no. 39)
Room 7: Formerly occupying the full width of the building but now divided. The partition cuts across the fireplace, which was boarded up (Photo no. 40, 41) but has now been exposed to show a cast iron grate and tiled surround. This room is lit by a window in the east gable and contains a modern water tank in the NW corner.

Room 8: South part of the divided room, converted to a bathroom.
Upper rooms
Room 9: Attic room, access by a narrow stair from room 2  (Photo no. 42)and a small landing. Lit by a roof light. The cladding of this room is also heavily wallpapered Photo no. 43), the lowest layers being newspaper (The Peoples’ Journal) dated to December 25th 1893 (Photo no. 44). Floor covering has been patterned lino (Photo no. 51)

Room 10: attic room, access from the east stair and landing. Lit by a roof light and wood –clad

Room 11: landing. Generous landing giving access to rooms 10 and 12. and separated from the stairwell by a rail. Lit at the east end by a rooflight. The floor is covered in lino in a patchwork of 4 different patterns (Photos 46-49)
Room 12: roof space. Unlit and unclad space with no flooring, containing a modern water tank (Photo no. 50). The floor level is higher than the other upper rooms as indicated by the  access door from room 11 . (Photo no. 46) It would appear that this room was never used as  living space. Exposed east gable stonework and roof frame.
5.0 Discussion
From the evidence of newspapers and the electricity meter, the period of occupancy of the cottage can be known to span 1893-2005 although cartographic evidence suggests a date of construction of around 1875. There may have been two phases of major alteration:

a. Conversion of the west room. Evidence for this is the awkward arrangement of the entrance door, passage and stair. Unfortunately there is no exposed wood framing which would allow an investigation of the sequence of construction. It is possible that this was originally a byre with its own external doorway and access from the main house via the door through the stone wall. This arrangement has been noted in ruinous dwellings in the Highlands. However, the west fireplace, unless there was a major re-build of the west gable, would indicate that this was constructed as a separate dwelling which was only later incorporated into the rest of the building.
b. Modernisation. This included the division of the east room into two to allow for a small bathroom, with associated tank in the roof space and plumbing, and probably the installation of kitchen facilities in room 4. Fireplaces in rooms 1 and 3  probably boarded up. Installation of electricity supply. The state of the upper rooms, particularly at the west end, suggests they were no longer in use.
6.0 Photographic Record (Digital)
	Photo no. 
	Description
	Angle of view

	1
	View to cottage from west side of road bridge over River Cassley
	From SE

	2
	View to cottage from west side of road bridge over River Cassley
	From SE

	3
	View to cottage from centre of road bridge over River Cassley, showing cottage in context of existing modern development
	From ESE

	4
	View to cottage from centre of road bridge over River Cassley, showing cottage in context of existing modern development
	From ESE

	5
	View of cottage from access route from public road
	From SSE

	6
	SW corner, west gable and west porch
	From SW

	7
	South, front aspect of cottage showing two porches and distribution of windows and roof lights
	From SW

	8
	South aspect, west section of cottage
	From S

	9
	South aspect, window 1, lighting room 1
	

	10
	South aspect, porch and door 1
	

	11
	South aspect, window 2, lighting room 3
	

	12
	South aspect, window 3, lighting room 5
	

	13
	South aspect, porch and door 2
	

	14
	South aspect, window 4, lighting room 8
	

	15
	West gable end and chimney. Road bridge visible behind, right
	From W

	16
	East gable and chimney
	From E

	17
	East gable window, lighting room 7
	

	18
	Stonework of east gable , backing flue.
	

	19
	General view of cottage from NW and modern access road
	From NW

	20
	General view of cottage from NW and modern access road, road bridge visible behind
	From NW

	21
	North, back aspect of cottage showing distribution of windows
	From N

	22
	North aspect of cottage
	From NNE

	23
	North aspect of cottage
	From NW

	24
	North aspect, window 1, lighting room 6
	

	25
	North aspect, window 2, lighting room 4
	

	26
	Detail of exposed stonework between windows 1 and 2
	

	27
	North aspect, window 3, lighting room 3
	

	28
	North aspect, window 4, lighting room 1
	

	29
	Interior, room 1, fireplace
	From E

	30
	Interior, room 1, alcove in NE corner
	From W

	31
	Interior, room 1, door in SE corner, probably original
	From W

	32
	Interior, room 2, base of stair
	From W

	33
	Interior, room 3, doorway through stone partition wall to room 2 and possible original door with inserted glass pane
	From E

	34
	Interior, room 3, fireplace and cast iron range
	From E

	35
	Interior, room 4, stair
	From SE

	36
	Interior, room 4, underside of stair
	From W

	37
	Interior, room 5 (corridor) from entrance, with room 3 beyond
	From E

	38
	Interior, room 5 (corridor) detail of layers of wallpaper in situ to east of external door
	From E

	39
	Room 6, inner side of door
	From N

	40
	Room 7, fireplace truncated by partition wall
	From W

	41
	Room 7, detail of fireplace
	From W

	42
	West stair
	From S

	43
	Room 9, attic room and peeling wallpaper
	From E

	44
	Room 9, detail of newspaper used as wall covering
	

	45
	Room 10
	From E

	46
	Room 11, raised door to room 12
	From W

	47
	Room 11, stairwell and entrance to room 10
	From E

	48
	Room 11, stairwell and lino flooring
	From W

	49
	Room 11, detail of lino flooring
	

	50
	Room 12
	From W

	51
	Samples of lino taken from upper rooms
	

	52
	Brown paper used as wall covering in room 5, with address to ‘Nurse R…’
	

	53
	Samples of wallpaper from layers to west of entrance in room 5
	

	54
	Samples of wallpaper from layers to west of entrance in room 5
	

	55
	Samples of wallpaper from layers to west of entrance in room 5
	

	56
	Samples of wallpaper from layers to west of entrance in room 5
	

	57
	Samples of wallpaper from layers to west of entrance in room 5
	

	58
	Samples of wallpaper from layers to west of entrance in room 5
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Archaeological Watching Brief

	Site summary
	Rural site

	Site location (NGR)
	NC 4708 0240



	Total area of construction
	House with access road and hardstanding, realignment of existing access road, services.

	Work required
	Archaeological Watching Brief

	Area of monitoring required
	All ground breaking work


1.0 Background

The development consists of: erection of new-build  house with access road and parking/turning area, realignment of existing road access to west, rainwater soakaways, oil storage tank,  services, works compounds, borrow pits or other ancillary work.

A brief for archaeological work has been prepared by the Archaeology Unit of the Department of Planning and Development at Highland Council, as a condition of the granting of planning consent for the present development.

The archaeological work is considered necessary as there is a significant risk that buried archaeological or historical remains could be affected. Although the full nature and extent of these features is not known, they are expected to be of historic interest and of value to future research, and as such they should not be destroyed without being recorded.

An archaeological watching brief enables any such discoveries to be recorded quickly and efficiently as they appear with minimum delay or disruption to the development.

2.0 Reasons for archaeological work

The site is located within the small settlement of Rosehall which grew around Invercassley estate and the Lairg-Lochinver road in the first half of the 19th century

This area is considered to be archaeologically-sensitive: it lies within an area where significant prehistoric remains have been recorded, including two Iron Age brochs on the east bank of the River Cassley just upstream from the development site. The place name Rosehall is a corruption of the original Rossal (Hross-vollr = horse field) and the  confluence of the River Cassley and the River Oykel at the upper end of the Kyle of Sutherland was probably a place of strategic importance when the lands north of the Kyle were under Norse control.

In addition the area contains many features of a managed sporting estate of the 19th century

3.0 Archaeological Background

The following archaeological sites in the vicinity of the development area are recorded on the Highland Sites and Monuments Record (SMR)
· Chapel and Graveyard at NC 468 028 SMR no. NC40SE0001

· Broch at NC 4686 0273, SMR no. NC40SE0002

· Site of flax mill at NC 4680 0282, SMR no. NC40SE0038

· Broch at NC 4701 0253, SMR no. NC40SE0003

There are no Scheduled Ancient Monuments in the vicinity of the development site

There is one Listed Building in the vicinity of the developments site:

· Bridge at NC4785 0228, SMR no. NC40SE0013, Listed ‘B’

4.0 Site Description

The site lies immediately to the north of the cottage and is bounded to the west by the modern access road to new housing to the NW. To the north is a level open grassy area and to the east the ground falls away steeply to the River Cassley. Approximately 10m north of the cottage the bank is broken by a deep gully which would appear to be the remains of a watercourse of which the western part has been infilled or channelled into a drain. The east part of the site was until recently covered with both mature and young trees, predominantly willow: these have now been felled. The west part of the site shows signs of disturbance and a re-deposited soil and subsoil mix, which has been barely re-colonised by weeds.
To the north of the east gable of the cottage are the remains of a wooden structure, infilled with rubbish. This does not appear to have had stone founds although it is on the approximate location of the building recorded on the 1st edition OS map.
5.0 The Watching Brief

This was carried out on 28.4.08 in overcast but dry weather conditions.
The entire stripped site proved to be disturbed ground, with a large borrow pit (photos 64, 65, 68) excavated to the north, then backfilled with material including hardcore (Photo no. 66)
The exposed west section (Photo no. 73) demonstrates layering of black soils and subsoil, possibly to build up the ground level before constructing the modern road.
A fibre-cement sewer led from the cottage to a septic tank (Photo no. 69) excavated into the natural subsoil.

The topsoil layer was black, gritty and ashy, containing glass and ceramic fragments, the latter dating to the 19th century. These were too concentrated to be a spread from the manuring of cultivated ground from the byre and too concentrated to be a midden, providing more evidence for the disturbed nature of the site.

It would appear likely that the greater part of the disturbance, including the excavation of the borrow pit, the infilling with hardcore and subsoil and the layering date to the construction of the adjacent modern housing, when the area is likely to have been used for the storage of materials and the raising and levelling of the route of the access road.
No archaeological material dating to before the mid-19th century was recovered and no archaeological features or deposits were noted

6.0 Conclusion

The conclusion of the Watching Brief is that any archaeological features present on the site have been removed during 20th -21st century activity. No damage to the archaeological record has therefore been caused by this development.

7.0 Photographic Record (digital)

	Photo no.
	Description
	Angle of View

	59
	Remains of wooden building to north of cottage
	From S

	60
	Area of felled trees with wooden building behind. In foreground, weed-covered re-deposited soils
	From W

	61
	Area of felled trees with wooden building behind. In foreground, weed-covered re-deposited soils. To left, standing tree marks gully of former water course
	From NW

	62
	Felled willows on gully of former watercourse, former wooden building behind
	From N

	63
	Re-deposited black, ashy soils showing in east section. Natural orange subsoil within stripped area
	From N

	64
	To left, previously excavated borrow pit
	From SW

	65
	Cut of previously excavated borrow pit
	From N

	66
	Deposits of hardcore and orange subsoil overlying re-deposited soils
	From NW

	67
	To left of stripped area: mixed black soils containing 19th century midden material, coal, etc, to right: layering under modern road
	From N

	68
	Full extent of modern borrow pit re-excavated
	From S

	69
	Septic tank exposed
	From W

	70
	Extension of stripped area east and infilling of gully
	From N

	71
	North area: topsoil strip completed
	From S

	72
	View of site after topsoil strip completed
	From NNW

	73
	West section under modern road showing layering of redeposited topsoil, subsoil, black soil on natural subsoil base
	From E
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 Plan 1. Location of Evaluation
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Plan 2: Location of Site.
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